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Personal Statement from the Editor...
Welcome to our fall issue of 2023, Narcotic Officers Magazine, Volume 12 Issue 2.  As always, I would like 

to thank each of you for advertising, your support, hard work and dedication. None of this is possible without 
you. I am here to educate the public and law enforcement community in the awareness of narcotics, drugs, and 
other addictive substances. I also make every effort to support programs that teach kids, parents, and the law 
enforcement community about drug use.

We continue focusing our supported programs towards drug education, equipment donations, and k9 pro-
grams. We continue to produce a high-quality magazine to help promote the exchange of ideas and information 
among law enforcement agencies and support groups. We have found that our publication, Narcotic Officers 
Magazine, continues to be both educational and helpful to both public safety officials, and the public with an 
interest in drug safety and education. 

In our last issue I touched on why building great work relationships is more than just getting along. Build-
ing good work relationships can have a huge impact on how much you enjoy your job. This is the power of 
strong professional relationships. Your coworkers might not be your best friends, and they don’t have to be. 
What they are is a talented group of individuals that can help you thrive at work. In this issue I want to talk 
about The Power of Healthy Relationships at Work by Emma Seppälä and Nicole K. McNichols.

Research confirms that our desire to feel seen, heard, and recognized is fundamentally human. As a spe-
cies, we’ve evolved to place enormous value on our relative roles and relationships to other group members. 
Not feeling valued for your contributions or sensing that your value isn’t acknowledged by others in your group 
activates the stress response and feels like a threat. Being rejected by your clan would put you at risk of being 
ostracized, which, in the wild, was akin to death. And that’s probably why rejection activates similar regions in 
the brain as physical pain. It hurts. All of this means that helping employees feel motivated and engaged re-
quires more than just restructuring the nature and design of their jobs. Time off, meditation, on-site daycare and 
fitness gyms can absolutely alleviate stress. But those things frame unhappiness as an individual condition when 
it’s a relational problem in need of relational solutions. On the next page are five principles for improving work 
relationships, borrowed from the literature on leadership as well as social psychology research on interpersonal 
relationships. Whether the context is work or personal, all relationships flourish when you consider the follow-
ing five core principles: (Continued on the next page.)

Our publication has always received outstanding support from the public and business community leaders 
across the nation. Our sponsors show their appreciation by taking out an advertisement in the Narcotic Officers 
Magazine, displaying their decals on their vehicles or place of business. Please support the advertisers whenever 
possible. The advertisers offer several goods and services that stretch across the nation. If possible, please try to 
support the businesses that advertise in the Narcotic Officers Magazine. You can follow us on our Facebook to 
stay up to date with the latest in equipment donations and news. Together, we 
can make a difference!

“It takes guts and humility to admit mistakes. Admitting we’re wrong is 
courage, not weakness.” Roy T. Bennett, The Light in the Heart

Matt Neelley                                                                                                                                          
          - Editor 
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1. Transparency and authenticity

Healthy work relationships require clear, consistent, 
honest, and open communication, which itself is the 
key element in trust, without which all relationships 
fail. There is robust research showing that authenticity 
and transparency are critical to effective leadership. 
Without those qualities, employees feel disregarded 
and dehumanized. Moreover, research by James Gross 
and Robert Levenson also shows that we register 
inauthenticity as a threat. Our heart rate goes up 
when we encounter someone who is pretending to be 
something they are not. Authenticity, even when it 
means being vulnerable, puts people at ease. In fact, 
vulnerability has many benefits. Learn to communicate 
honestly yet compassionately. Make sure to listen and 
respond so others feel heard, seen, and valued. 
 
2. Inspiration
In healthy relationships, people lift each other 
up by inspiring each other to be the best versions 
of themselves. One of the biggest predictors of 
relationship satisfaction is the ability for people to 
maintain positive images of each other. When someone 
sees the best in us, it motivates and inspires us to 
become better. The same holds true for employee-
supervisor relationships, where research also shows that 
when we feel inspired by someone’s perspective of us 
— that is, they see us for our best selves — it inspires 
us to improve. Whether it’s an employee or a friend, we 
feel valued when others acknowledge and celebrate our 
strengths. This kind of interaction is deeply energizing, 
which further enhances productivity. Everyone wants 
to feel respected and appreciated for their individuality. 
Exercises like Reflected Best Self can help them (and 
you) do so successfully.
 
3. Emotional intelligence
How you handle emotions (especially the big, bad, 
negative ones) is critical to your ability to navigate 
inevitable conflicts. Are you self-aware? Do you know 
how to handle negative emotions successfully? One 
of the fastest and most efficient ways to regulate your 
emotions, our research shows, is through breathing.

When you relate to others, can you read non-verbal 
cues? Do you know how to act with skill and 

compassion toward others? These skills and abilities 
also feed into another important attribute: the ability 
to exercise self-control. Research shows that our 
relationships, whether at home or at work, do better 
when we don’t sweat the small stuff. Research also 
shows that our relationships thrive when we are able 
to occasionally put the needs of a relationship ahead of 
our own.
 
4. Self-care
Maintaining a connection with others requires 
maintaining your own balance and sanity as well. Learn 
which mental states burn you out faster. Exercise self-
care by taking your vacations and making the most of 
minibreaks. Learn recovery techniques and build your 
stress resilience with meditation and nature. Encourage 
your employees to do the same (and make sure it’s 
not just lip service). Set aside time just to focus on 
nurturing your own energy. It’s impossible to nurture 
and honor the mental balance and health of others if 
you aren’t first attending to your own.
 
5. Values
Humble leaders who are compassionate, generous, 
forgiving, and ethical do better. They lead with 
kindness and keep their employees’ well-being in 
mind. They create positive workplaces that yield 
superior financial performance, customer satisfaction, 
productivity, and employee engagement. There is 
also robust research showing that when teams share 
the same mental models, meaning that they approach 
projects with the same sets of expectations and 
priorities, they perform better. Communicate goals 
clearly with employees and respect differences in 
how to approach work. Feeling connected to others 
requires being on the same page emotionally as well as 
intellectually.
In healthy work relationships, everyone benefits, 
and everyone experiences moments of authentic 
happiness and enjoyment. Businesses thrive under such 
leadership. “Nobody brings out as much engagement 
and performance as leaders who can balance between 
the head and the heart,” Kushal Choksi shared in an 
interview. “It brings positive energy and empathy in the 
management style. And when your team feels inspired 
and taken care of, they bring their best selves to work.”
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DEA Reports
Drug Enforcement Administration 
Cheri Oz 
Special Agent in Charge 
Phoenix 
@DEAPhoenixDiv 
July 07, 2023 
Contact: Jodie Underwood 
Phone Number: (571) 387-3289 
For Immediate Release

COOPERATION BETWEEN 
UNITED STATES AND MEXICAN 
LAW ENFORCEMENT LEADS 
TO SIGNIFICANT ACTIONS 
AGAINST TRANSNATIONAL 
DRUG TRAFFICKING ORGANI-
ZATION

TUCSON, Ariz. – Today, United 
States and Mexican law enforcement 
announced significant enforcement 
actions against a prolific transnational 
drug trafficking organization oper-
ating in Nogales, Sonora, along the 
U.S.-Mexico border.

After extensive bilateral cooperation 
between the United States and Mex-
ico, Mexico’s Attorney General’s 
Office, Fiscalía General de la Repúbli-
ca (FGR) – conducted a significant 
enforcement operation on June 23, 
2023, to dismantle a prolific transna-
tional drug trafficking organization op-
erating in Nogales, Sonora, along the 
U.S.–Mexico border. The operation 
resulted in the arrest of five people 
and the seizure of 120,000 fentanyl 
pills, 15 pounds of methamphetamine, 
17 pounds of heroin, 15 pounds of 
cocaine, 3 assault rifles, one 9mm 
handgun, and a vehicle.

In addition, seven U.S.-based coordi-
nators and operators with alleged ties 
to the same drug-trafficking organiza-
tion have been arrested and indicted in 
the United States. Gerardo Bernal-Ma-
zon, 29, Ashley Bernal, 31, Jessica 
Yesenia Valenzuela, 32, and Delyanira 
Lovio, 29, all of Nogales, Arizona, 
Juan Murillo, 48, of Rio Rico, Arizo-
na, and Lilian Sugey Siegfried, 38, of 
Tucson, Arizona, were indicted by a 
federal grand jury on drug trafficking 
charges on February 2, 2023. George 

Armenta-Vasquez, 45, of Nogales, So-
nora, Mexico, was indicted by a feder-
al grand jury on January 25, 2023.

“Transnational drug trafficking organi-
zations pose an unprecedented public 
safety threat to both the United States 
and Mexico,” said Attorney General 
Merrick B. Garland. “These coordi-
nated law enforcement actions demon-
strate the success our countries can 
have when we work together to meet 
that threat.”

This effort is part of an Organized 
Crime Drug Enforcement Task Forc-
es (OCDETF) operation. OCDETF 
identifies, disrupts, and dismantles the 
highest-level criminal organizations 
that threaten the United States using 
a prosecutor-led, intelligence-driven, 
multi-agency approach. Addition-
al information about the OCDETF 
Program can be found at https://www.
justice.gov/OCDETF.

Drug Enforcement Administration 
(DEA) – Nogales led the investigation 
in the United States, in concert with 
the DEA Mexico City Country Office, 
Homeland Security Investigations 
(HSI) – Nogales, U.S. Customs and 
Border Protection’s U.S. Border Pa-
trol, U.S. Customs and Border Protec-
tion Office of Field Operation, and the 
Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms 
and Explosives – Tucson. Support 
from DEA–Mexico City Country 
Office and FGR’s Agencia de Investi-
gación Criminal (AIC) was critical in 
providing coordination between Unit-
ed States and Mexican law enforce-
ment agencies. The U.S. Department 
of Justice’s Office of International 
Affairs provided assistance. The Unit-
ed States Attorney’s Office, District 
of Arizona, Tucson, is prosecuting the 
seven individuals named above

https://www.dea.gov/press-releas-
es/2023/07/07/cooperation-be-
tween-united-states-and-mexi-
can-law-enforcement-leads

Drug Enforcement Administration 
Cheri Oz 
Special Agent in Charge 
Phoenix 
@DEAPhoenixDiv 
February 23, 2023 
Contact: Jodie Underwood 
Phone Number: (571) 387-3289 
For Immediate Release

DEA, ARIZONA ATTORNEY 
GENERAL & TEMPE POLICE 
ANNOUNCE 150+ SUBJECTS 
CHARGED & MASSIVE QUAN-
TITIES OF NARCOTICS SEIZED

PHOENIX– Today, DEA in part-
nership with the Arizona Attorney 
General’s Office and the Tempe Police 
Department announced the culmina-
tion of a three-year long investigation 
targeting the Sinaloa Drug Cartel. 
To date, over 150 individuals have 
been charged and investigators have 
seized over 4.5 million fentanyl laced 
fake prescription pills, 66 kilograms 
of fentanyl powder, 138 kilograms 
of cocaine, 3100 pounds of metham-
phetamine, 35 kilograms of heroin, 49 
firearms and over $2 million dollars. 
The narcotics seized in this investi-
gation is valued at over $13 million 
dollars. The fentanyl seized represents 
more than 30 million potentially 
lethal doses.  This investigation is 
part of DEA’s work in defeating the 
criminal drug cartels, Sinaloa and 
Jalisco (CJNG), who continue to drive 
addiction and drug poisonings in 
communities nationwide, threatening 
the safety and health of Americans.  
The Sinaloa Cartel is responsible for 
nearly all deadly narcotics flooding 
into Arizona.

“DEA Arizona is laser focused on 
the Sinaloa Drug Cartel. We will not 
stop,” said DEA Special Agent in 
Charge Cheri Oz.  “This investigation 
is a testament to our strong partner-
ships which enable us to gain the 
necessary advantage over these evil 
criminal networks.”

“There are few families in our state 
and across our country that haven’t 
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been touched in some way by the 
scourge of the opioid epidemic and 
fentanyl crisis,” said Attorney General 
Kris Mayes. “I am very proud of our 
agents’ work and am grateful for our 
strong partnerships with other law 
enforcement agencies. Getting these 
drugs off the street will undoubtedly 
save lives.”

“Our mission to reduce the supply and 
demand of illegal drugs within the 
City of Tempe would not be successful 
without the collaboration and, more 
specifically the hard work and dedica-
tion of our detectives, special agents, 
and professional staff,” said Interim 
Tempe Police Chief Josie Montenegro.

Fentanyl is the deadliest drug threat 
facing our country and most of the 
fentanyl is trafficked by the Sinaloa 
and CJNG Cartels who mass-produce 
the drug in secret laboratories in Mex-
ico with chemicals sourced largely by 
China. It is a highly addictive man-
made opioid and just milligrams of 
fentanyl, the small amount that fits 
on the tip of a pencil, is considered a 
deadly dose. The criminal cartels are 
mass producing fake pills to look like 
prescription drugs such as Oxycontin, 
Hydrocodone, Percocet, Xanax, and 
Adderall.  They are also hiding fen-
tanyl in other drugs such as cocaine, 
methamphetamine, and heroin.  Any 
illicit fentanyl, regardless of color, 
shape, or size, is dangerous and can be 
deadly.  

Last year DEA Arizona seized over 
$22 million fentanyl laced fake 
prescription pills, 500 kilograms of 
fentanyl powder, over 10,000 pounds 
of methamphetamine, over 1400 kilo-
grams of cocaine and over 400 pounds 
of heroin.

Law enforcement needs your help 
in spreading the word, to save lives. 
Families are encouraged to have open 
and honest communications with their 
loved ones, especially young people, 
about the dangers of fentanyl, fake 
pills and other illicit drugs.  Nev-
er take a pill that wasn’t prescribed 
directly to you by your doctor.  Never 
take a pill from a friend.  Just one pill 
can be deadly.

More information for parents and 
families on the dangers of fentanyl and 
fake pills can be found on DEA’s web-
site at One Pill Can Kill (dea.gov).

https://www.dea.gov/press-re-
leases/2023/02/23/dea-arizona-at-
torney-general-tempe-police-an-
nounce-150-subjects-charged

Drug Enforcement Administration 
Daniel C. Comeaux 
Special Agent in Charge 
Houston 
@DEAHoustonDiv 
August 28, 2023 
Contact: Sally M. Sparks 
Phone Number: (713) 693-3329 
For Immediate Release

LAREDO RESIDENT INDICTED 
FOR DISTRIBUTING FENTAN-
YL CAUSING THE DEATH TO A 
JUVENILE

LAREDO, Texas – A federal grand 
jury has returned an indictment against 
a 22-year-old resident of Laredo for 
distributing Fentanyl which caused the 
death of a juvenile, announced Drug 
Enforcement Administration (DEA) 
Special Agent in Charge Daniel C. 
Comeaux of the Houston Division and 
U.S. Attorney Alamdar S. Hamdani.

Authorities arrested Jose Antonio Car-
los III today. He is expected to appear 
before U.S. Magistrate Judge Christo-
pher dos Santos Aug. 25 at 9:30 a.m.

The two-count indictment, returned 
Aug. 22, alleges Carlos distributed 
Fentanyl, a schedule II-controlled 
substance, to another individual May 
16. That person was a juvenile who 
subsequently died after using the drug, 
according to the charges.

Carlos is also charged with one count 
of possession with the intent to distrib-
ute Fentanyl.

If convicted of the distribution result-
ing in death, Carlos faces up life in 
federal prison with a mandatory min-
imum of 20 years. He could also be 
ordered to pay up to a $1 million fine.

The Drug Enforcement Administration 
would like to thank the hard-working 

agents of the DEA Laredo Overdose 
Task Force. This local task force is 
comprised of Laredo Police Depart-
ment, Webb County District Attorney’s 
Office, Webb County Sheriff’s De-
partment and other local based federal 
agencies that were instrumental in 
bringing this local killer of an unwit-
ting teenager to Justice.

This case is being prosecuted as part 
of an Organized Crime Drug En-
forcement Task Forces (OCDETF) 
investigation. OCDETF is the largest 
anti-crime task force in the country. 
OCDETF identifies, disrupts and 
dismantles the highest-level criminal 
organizations that threaten the United 
States using a prosecutor-led, intelli-
gence-driven, multi-agency approach. 
Additional information about the 
OCDETF Program can be found on 
the Department of Justice’s OCDETF 
webpage.

More information on the dangers of 
fentanyl can be found on the DEA’s 
website. #OnePillCanKill

An indictment is a formal accusation 
of criminal conduct, not evidence. A 
defendant is presumed innocent unless 
convicted through due process of law.

https://www.dea.gov/press-releas-
es/2023/08/28/laredo-resident-in-
dicted-distributing-fentanyl-caus-
ing-death-juvenile

Drug Enforcement Administration 
Daniel C. Comeaux 
Special Agent in Charge 
Houston 
@DEAHoustonDiv 
March 24, 2023 
Contact: Sally M. Sparks 
Phone Number: (713) 693-3329 
For Immediate Release

CORPUS CHRISTI MAN AR-
RESTED FOR SELLING FEN-
TANYL-LACED PILLS CAUSING 
DEATH

CORPUS CHRISTI, Texas – A 
21-year-old Corpus Christi man has 
been charged with delivery of fentanyl 
resulting in death and possession of 
fentanyl with the intent to distribute, 



SEPTEMBER 2023 NARCOTIC OFFICERS MAGAZINE™  —  7

announced Drug Enforcement Ad-
ministration (DEA) Special Agent in 
Charge Daniel C. Comeaux, Houston 
Division and U.S. Attorney Alamdar 
S. Hamdani.

Authorities arrested Ricardo Julyan 
Kross Rios aka Kross, 21, Corpus 
Christi Thursday. He is expected to 
make his initial appearance before 
U.S. Magistrate Judge Mitchel Neuro-
ck at 9:45 a.m. Friday.

A federal grand jury in Corpus Christi 
returned the two-count indictment 
March 22, 2023. It alleges that on Dec. 
9, 2022, Rios possessed and delivered 
a substance containing a detectable 
amount of fentanyl, the use of which 
resulted in the death of a person. Rios 
was also charged with one count of 
possessing fentanyl for the purpose of 
distribution on Jan. 17.        

If convicted of distributing fentanyl 
causing death, Rios faces up to life in 
prison. He could also be fined up to 
$1 million. The possession of fentanyl 
with the intention to distribute carries 
a 20-year maximum sentence.

The Drug Enforcement Administra-
tion led the cooperative law enforce-
ment effort targeting fentanyl with 
the assistance of Homeland Security 
Investigations, Jim Wells County 
Sheriff’s Office and police departments 
in Corpus Christi, Aransas Pass and 
Mathis. Assistant U.S. Attorney Robert 
D. Thorpe Jr. is prosecuting this case.  

An indictment is a formal accusation 
of criminal conduct, not evidence. A 
defendant is presumed innocent unless 
convicted through due process of law.

https://www.dea.gov/press-releas-
es/2023/03/24/corpus-christi-man-
arrested-selling-fentanyl-laced-pills-
causing-death

Drug Enforcement Administration 
Brian D. Boyle 
Special Agent in Charge 
New England 
@DEANewEngland 
July 26, 2023 
Contact: Kristen Govostes 
Phone Number: (617) 557-2100 

For Immediate Release

NEW BEDFORD MAN SEN-
TENCED FOR ROLE IN FENTAN-
YL TRAFFICKING ORGANIZA-
TION

BOSTON – A New Bedford man was 
sentenced today in federal court in 
Boston for his role in a drug traffick-
ing organization (DTO) operating 
in Southeastern Massachusetts and 
Rhode Island.

Jason Cruz, 42, was sentenced by 
U.S. District Court Judge Allison D. 
Burroughs to 16 months in prison and 
three years of supervised release. In 
May 2023, Cruz pleaded guilty to one 
count of conspiracy to distribute and 
to possess with intent to distribute 
fentanyl.

Between approximately April 2022 
and approximately June 2022, Cruz 
purchased fentanyl from the DTO 
that he then redistributed to others. 
Intercepted communications depicted 
Cruz discussing purchasing fentanyl 
from the DTO. In addition, surveil-
lance footage showed other members 
of the DTO visiting Cruz’s residence 
for brief periods of times, often times 
consistent with illegal drug trafficking. 

Acting United States Attorney Josh-
ua S. Levy; Brian D. Boyle, Special 
Agent in Charge of the Drug Enforce-
ment Administration, New England 
Field Division; New Bedford Police 
Chief Paul Oliveira; and Fairhaven 
Police Chief Michael J. Myers made 
the announcement today. Special assis-
tance was provided by the Massachu-
setts State Police; Homeland Security 
Investigations; Bristol County Sher-
riff’s Office; and Fall River, Taunton, 
Attleboro, Scituate, Yarmouth, Provi-
dence (R.I.) and West Warwick (R.I.) 
Police Departments. Assistant U.S. 
Attorney John T. Mulcahy of the 
Narcotics & Money Laundering Unit 
prosecuted the case.

This effort is part of an Organized 
Crime Drug Enforcement Task Forc-
es (OCDETF) operation. OCDETF 
identifies, disrupts, and dismantles the 
highest-level criminal organizations 
that threaten the United States using 
a prosecutor-led, intelligence-driven, 

multi-agency approach. Additional in-
formation about the OCDETF Program 
can be found at https://www.justice.
gov/OCDETF.

https://www.dea.gov/press-releas-
es/2023/07/26/new-bedford-man-sen-
tenced-role-fentanyl-trafficking-orga-
nization

Drug Enforcement Administration 
Brian D. Boyle 
Special Agent in Charge 
New England 
@DEANewEngland 
May 24, 2023 
Contact: Kristen Govostes 
Phone Number: (617) 557-2100 
For Immediate Release

TWO CONVICTED FOR ROLES 
IN DRUG TRAFFICKING ORGA-
NIZATION WITH TIES TO MEXI-
CAN CARTEL

BOSTON – Two men were convicted 
today by a federal jury in Boston for 
operating a large-scale international 
fentanyl trafficking and money laun-
dering conspiracy.

Fermin Castillo, 43, of Boston, and 
Andre Heraux Martinez, 24, of the 
Dominican Republic, were convicted 
following a seven-day jury trial of con-
spiracy to distribute over 400 grams 
of fentanyl and conspiracy to commit 
money laundering. U.S. Senior District 
Court Judge William G. Young sched-
uled sentencing for Sept. 12, 2023. 
Castillo and Heraux were indicted on 
April 15, 2021.

In July 2020, law enforcement began 
an investigation into a drug trafficking 
and money laundering organization 
distributing large quantities of fen-
tanyl and laundering drug proceeds. 
Intercepted communications identified 
Fermin Castillo as the leader of the 
organization who coordinated fentanyl 
shipments from Sinaloa, Mexico to 
Massachusetts and the laundering of 
hundreds of thousands of dollars. As 
part of the conspiracy, Heraux main-
tained a drug stash apartment located 
in Hyde Park, which was used to store 
and process kilograms of fentanyl and 
delivered a total of over $500,000 in 
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drug proceeds to undercover officers 
posing as money launderers.

In August 2020, Castillo coordinated 
the delivery of $200,000 to a separate 
New York-based money laundering 
organization, as well as the delivery 
of $100,000 to an undercover officer 
in December 2020. In January 2021, 
Castillo coordinated the delivery of 
$150,000 which was ultimately seized 
from Heraux as he attempted to deliver 
the money on behalf of Castillo. Addi-
tionally, in February 2021, 197 grams 
of fentanyl was seized from Heraux as 
he attempted to deliver the drugs to a 
customer of the organization.

In total, over 10 kilograms of fentanyl 
and heroin were seized from Heraux’s 
stash apartment along with additional 
fentanyl from other members of the 
drug trafficking and money laundering 
organization. 

The charge of conspiracy to distribute 
over 400 grams of fentanyl provides 
for a mandatory minimum sentence 
of 10 years and up to life in prison, at 
least five years of supervised release 
and a fine of up to $10 million. The 
charge of conspiracy to commit money 
laundering provides for a sentence of 
up to 20 years in prison, at least three 
years of supervised release and a fine 
of up to $500,000, or twice the value 
of the funds laundered, whichever is 
greater. Sentences are imposed by a 
federal district court judge based upon 
the U.S. Sentencing Guidelines and 
statutes which govern the determina-
tion of a sentence in a criminal case.

Acting United States Attorney Josh-
ua S. Levy; Brian D. Boyle, Special 
Agent in Charge of the Drug Enforce-
ment Administration, New England 
Field Division; and John E. Mawn Jr., 
Interim Colonel of the Massachusetts 
State Police made the announcement 
today. Assistant U.S. Attorneys Leah 
B. Foley and Stephen W. Hassink of 
Levy’s Narcotics & Money Launder-
ing Unit are prosecuting the case.

This case is part of an Organized 
Crime Drug Enforcement Task Forces 
(OCDETF) Strike Force Initiative, 
which provides for the establishment 
of permanent multi-agency task force 

teams that work side-by-side in the 
same location. This co-located model 
enables agents from different agencies 
to collaborate on intelligence-driven, 
multi-jurisdictional operations to dis-
rupt and dismantle the most significant 
drug traffickers, money launderers, 
gangs, and transnational criminal orga-
nizations. OCDETF identifies, dis-
rupts, and dismantles the highest-level 
criminal organizations that threaten the 
United States using a prosecutor-led, 
intelligence-driven, multi-agency ap-
proach. Additional information about 
the OCDETF Program can be found at 
https://www.justice.gov/OCDETF.

https://www.dea.gov/press-re-
leases/2023/05/24/two-convict-
ed-roles-drug-trafficking-organiza-
tion-ties-mexican-cartel

Drug Enforcement Administration 
David F. Reames 
Special Agent in Charge 
Seattle 
@DEASeattleDiv 
August 04, 2023 
Phone Number: (571) 387-3831 
For Immediate Release

BORDER ENFORCEMENT SE-
CURITY TASK FORCE SEIZES 
30,000+ FENTANYL PILLS FROM 
ALLEGED TRAFFICKER IN TUK-
WILA, WASHINGTON

SEATTLE – A 46-year-old Mexican 
citizen is in federal custody tonight 
charged with possession of controlled 
substances with intent to deliver, for 
some 30,000 fentanyl pills found in his 
pick-up truck, announced Acting U.S. 
Attorney Tessa M. Gorman. David 
Garcia-Garcia made his appearance on 
the criminal complaint this afternoon. 
He remains detained pending further 
hearings.

According to records filed in the 
case, the Border Enforcement Secu-
rity Task Force became aware that a 
dealer known as “Daby,” was offering 
fentanyl for sale. Agents were able 
to identify Daby as an alias for Gar-
cia-Garcia. A meeting was arranged 
with Garcia-Garcia near a restaurant 
in Tukwila to review the goods for a 
possible drug sale. Following the drug 

meeting, officers moved in and arrest-
ed Garcia-Garcia and impounded his 
truck.

Law enforcement obtained a search 
warrant for the truck and found multi-
ple packages of fentanyl pills – the to-
tal was more than three kilos – likely 
more than 30,000 fentanyl pills.

Because of the amount of fentanyl in-
volved, Garcia-Garcia faces a manda-
tory minimum ten years in prison and 
up to 40 years in prison.

The charges contained in the criminal 
complaint are only allegations. A per-
son is presumed innocent unless and 
until he or she is proven guilty beyond 
a reasonable doubt in a court of law.

Garcia-Garcia faces deportation fol-
lowing any prison term.

The case was investigated by agents 
from the Drug Enforcement Admin-
istration (DEA), and officers from 
Homeland Security Investigation 
(HSI), and the Seattle Police Depart-
ment.

https://www.dea.gov/press-releas-
es/2023/08/04/border-enforcement-se-
curity-task-force-seizes-30000-fentan-
yl-pills

Drug Enforcement Administration 
David F. Reames 
Special Agent in Charge 
Seattle 
@DEASeattleDiv 
June 16, 2023 
Phone Number: (571) 387-3831 
For Immediate Release

FORMER ALASKA ADVANCED 
NURSE PRACTITIONER SEN-
TENCED TO 30 YEARS FOR 
ILLEGALLY PRESCRIBING MIL-
LIONS OF OPIOIDS CAUSING 
FIVE DEATHS

ANCHORAGE, ALASKA—Former 
Advanced Nurse Practitioner Jessica 
Joyce Spayd (52) was sentenced in 
U.S. District Court yesterday to 30 
years (360 months) imprisonment for 
illegally prescribing and dispensing 
opioids outside the scope of legitimate 
medical practice that resulted in the 
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deaths of five people between 2014 
and 2019. United States District Judge 
Joshua M. Kindred handed down the 
sentence.

A jury convicted Spayd on October 
27, 2022, of 10 crimes including five 
counts of illegal drug distribution that 
resulted in death and one count of 
maintaining a drug involved prem-
ises. She was also ordered to forfeit 
$117,000 in unlawful proceeds.

The parties presented 51 witnesses 
during the four-week trial. Govern-
ment witnesses included pharmacists 
who refused to fill prescriptions from 
Spayd, law enforcement agents and 
officers who investigated the deaths, 
Spayd’s employees, individuals who 
received pills from Spayd, medical 
experts, every Medical Examiner in 
Alaska (each of whom performed au-
topsies on different overdose victims), 
and family members of the victims.

Evidence presented during the trial 
showed that Spayd prescribed and 
dispensed 4.5 million dosages of 
opioids in just over five years includ-
ing fentanyl, methadone, oxycodone, 
and hydromorphone. Many times she 
combined those prescriptions with 
prescriptions for dangerous other 
drugs like valium and muscle relaxers, 
known as the “holy trinity,” greatly 
increasing the chances of overdose 
death. She wrote these prescriptions 
with little to no medical justification or 
treatment plan; minimal, if any, tests 
or physical examinations; and little, 
if any, considerations of non-opioid 
treatment. Many of her patients were 
vulnerable and suffering from chronic 
pain, addiction, and mental illness, 
yet Spayd disregarded their medical 
histories, risk factors, past overdoses, 
symptoms, and pleas to reduce or taper 
their doses. She also ignored warnings 
from patients’ family members, phar-
macists, and other medical providers, 
and defied thousands of warning let-
ters sent by insurance companies about 
the dangers of her practices.

“Ms. Spayd betrayed the trust of her 
profession, those under her care, and 
her community by prescribing a stag-
gering amount of opioids along with 
other powerful narcotics,” said Jacob 

D. Galvan, Acting Special Agent in 
Charge, DEA Seattle Field Division. 
“This lengthy sentence emphasizes the 
seriousness of Ms. Spayd’s actions and 
should be seen as deterrent to those 
who aim to bring harm to our commu-
nities.”

In imposing the sentence, Judge Kin-
dred emphasized the trust that society 
places in medical practitioners like 
Spayd and remarked that “when [prac-
titioners] fail in their responsibilities, 
[they] can do far greater harm than the 
drug dealer on the street corner.” He 
also acknowledged that Spayd “knew 
she was in effect killing people, and 
she just kept doing it,” for nearly two 
decades.

“This is the deadliest drug case in this 
district’s history. And disturbingly, the 
five deaths the Defendant was con-
victed of at trial are just the tip of the 
iceberg” because “Spayd may have 
caused or contributed to the deaths 
of dozens: 20 total confirmed drug 
overdoses and many others suspected. 
She was a serial killer with a ‘poison 
pen,’” Assistant U.S. Attorney Ryan 
D. Tansey wrote in a sentencing mem-
orandum filed with the court. “[H]er 
conduct was far more insidious” than 
that of a street level dealer “because 
she sanctioned (and supplied) le-
thal levels of drugs for her patients, 
day after day, year after year, under 
the shroud of a prescribing license, 
assuring them that it was safe and 
necessary. In the process, she abused 
her authority and violated her oath 
as a medical professional, prescrib-
ing higher doses per patient than any 
other prescriber in Alaska during the 
charging period.”

“Medical practitioners who abuse 
their positions of trust by supplying 
millions of opioids for no legitimate 
medical purpose wreak havoc on our 
community,” said U.S. Attorney S. 
Lane Tucker. “Let this sentence send 
a clear message to any other medi-
cal practitioners considering similar 
conduct in Alaska: our office and 
law enforcement partners will work 
tirelessly to investigate and prosecute 
these cases, and you will be punished 
severely.”

“Spayd callously abused her dispens-
ing authority, while fueling the opioid 
epidemic and poisoning our commu-
nities in the process,” said Special 
Agent in Charge Antony Jung of the 
FBI Anchorage Field Office. “This 
investigation and subsequent prosecu-
tion was about seeking justice for the 
victims and their families, and holding 
Spayd accountable for her destructive 
and lethal crimes. With Spayd’s abuse 
linked to a significant loss of life, 
this sentence will undoubtedly have 
a direct public safety impact on our 
community.”

Assistant U.S. Attorneys Ryan Tansey 
and Michael Heyman prosecuted the 
case.

The Drug Enforcement Administration 
(DEA) and the Federal Bureau of In-
vestigation (FBI) conducted the inves-
tigation leading to the charges in this 
case, with invaluable assistance from 
members of the North Slope Borough 
Police Department, the Alaska Health 
Care Fraud Task Force, the U.S. De-
partment of Health and Human Ser-
vices-Office of the Inspector General, 
Internal Revenue Service (IRS), U.S. 
Bureau of Land Management (BLM), 
Office of Law Enforcement and Secu-
rity, Department of Natural Resources 
(DNR), Alaska State Parks Rangers, 
Alaska State Troopers, Anchorage 
Police Department, Alaska Medicaid 
Fraud Control Unit, and the State of 
Alaska Division of Insurance.

The Alaska Health Care Fraud Task 
Force (AHCFTF) is a partnership of 
local, state, federal, and private agen-
cies focused on the investigation of 
health care fraud, waste, and abuse in 
Alaska or affecting Alaskan interests. 
For more information: https://www.fbi.
gov/contact-us/field-offices/anchorage/
alaska-health-care-fraud-task-force

https://www.dea.gov/press-releas-
es/2023/06/16/former-alaska-ad-
vanced-nurse-practitioner-sen-
tenced-30-years-illegally
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Drug Enforcement Administration 
Eduardo A. Chávez 
Special Agent in Charge 
Dallas 
@DEADallasDiv 
July 06, 2023 
Contact: Cynthia M. Velazquez 
Phone Number: 571-324-7481 
For Immediate Release

FENTANYL DISTRIBUTER TIED 
TO 13-YEAR-OLD’S OVERDOSE 
DEATH PLEADS GUILTY

DALLAS, TX - A drug distributer who 
was selling fentanyl-laced counter-
feit M30 pills to a Carrollton middle 
schooler shortly before her fatal over-
dose pleaded guilty today to a federal 
drug crime, announced Eduardo A. 
Chávez, Special Agent in Charge of 
DEA Dallas

Rafael Soliz, Jr., 23, was indicted in 
March. He pleaded guilty Thursday 
to conspiracy to possess with intent to 
distribute fentanyl before U.S. Magis-
trate Judge Renee Harris Toliver.

“Anyone selling fentanyl to children 
will find themselves becoming a top 
priority for the Drug Enforcement 
Administration,” said DEA Special 
Agent in Charge Eduardo A. Chávez. 
“The DEA will continue to focus our 
resources on stopping this deadly 
threat from reaching and causing more 
harm to our next generation.”

“My heart aches for the victim in this 
case – a promising young girl who’d 
barely entered her teens. The defen-
dant not only sold her fentanyl but also 
taught her how to ingest it. In essence, 
he encouraged a mere child to snort a 
terrifyingly potent, highly addictive 
drug – and then urged her to cover 
for him with law enforcement,” said 
U.S. Attorney Leigha Simonton. “The 
Northern District of Texas is pulling 
out all the stops to rid the streets of 
dealers and keep fentanyl out of the 
hands of our kids. Our community 
cannot endure much more of this.”

“We will never stop fighting to pro-
tect our community from this dan-
gerous drug. I’m proud of the men 
and women of the Carrollton Police 
Department, who are working tireless-

ly to rid the community of this poison. 
Our thoughts and prayers are with the 
family,” said Carrollton Police Chief 
Roberto Arredondo.

According to plea papers, Mr. Sol-
iz admitted he sold fentanyl to both 
street-level dealers and directly to 
users, including children. 

Mr. Soliz used an Instagram account 
to communicate with both adult and 
minor customers interested in purchas-
ing counterfeit M30 pills containing 
fentanyl.  On Nov. 30, Mr. Soliz re-
sponded via Instagram messenger to a 
13-year-old girl who asked him if she 
could buy “percs.”  Soliz agreed and 
delivered the pills to her residence. He 
then advised her how to snort them.

A few days later, upon discovering that 
the child, a student at Dewitt Perry 
Middle School, was just 13, he ex-
pressed dismay at her age but agreed 
to continue selling to her if she would 
“keep it on the down low” and deny he 
was her dealer if she ever got caught. 
On December 9, 2022, he advised her 
to “delete our chat” and instead use 
Instagram Vanish Mode.

Two days later, the child was found 
dead in her Carrollton bedroom. An 
autopsy revealed she’d died from a 
toxic combination of fentanyl and 
cough medicine.

In his plea papers, Mr. Soliz stipulated 
that he personally distributed approx-
imately 1,500 fentanyl pills to adults 
and juveniles, including the 13 year-
old victim.  He stated he dealt hun-
dreds of pills directly to Luis Eduardo 
Navarrete, one of the first traffickers 
charged in the wake of the Carrollton 
juvenile fentanyl overdoses.

Mr. Soliz is the fifth defendant charged 
in the wake of the Carrollton / Flower 
Mound juvenile overdose investigation 
to enter a guilty plea. Jason Xavier 
Villanueva, Magaly Cano, Dono-
van Jude Andrews and Stephen Paul 
Brinson pleaded guilty earlier this 
year; three other defendants, including 
Mr. Navarrete, have been charged but 
not yet convicted. (All are presumed 
innocent until proven guilty in a court 
of law.)

Mr. Soliz now faces up to 40 years in 
federal prison. Under the terms of his 
plea agreement, he may be called upon 
to testify in court.

The Drug Enforcement Administra-
tion’s Dallas Field Division and the 
Carrollton Police Department conduct-
ed the investigation with the assistance 
of the Carrollton - Farmer’s Branch 
Independent School District. Assis-
tant U.S. Attorneys Rick Calvert and 
Phelesa Guy are prosecuting the case.

Note: Illicitly produced, fentanyl-laced 
pills often look similar to legitimate 
prescription pills like Oxycontin or 
Percocet, but can pose significantly 
more danger. On the street, these pills 
are often referred to as “M30s” (a 
reference to the markings on some of 
the pills), “blues,” “perks,” “yerks,” 
“china girls,” or “TNT.” DEA research 
shows that six out of ten pills laced 
with fentanyl contain a potentially 
lethal dose. One pill can kill. For 
resources, visit https://www.dea.gov/
onepill.

https://www.dea.gov/press-releas-
es/2023/07/06/fentanyl-distributer-
tied-13-year-olds-overdose-death-
pleads-guilty

Drug Enforcement Administration 
Robert J. Murphy, Jr. 
Special Agent in Charge 
Atlanta 
@DEAAtlantaDiv 
June 29, 2023 
Contact: SA Crystal Harper 
Phone Number: (571) 362-3433 
For Immediate Release

U.S. ATTORNEY ANNOUNCES 
17 INDICTMENTS IN FAYETTE-
VILLE AREA AS PART OF ONGO-
ING FEDERAL VIOLENT CRIME 
AND DRUG STRATEGY

FAYETTEVILLE, N.C. – Today, U.S. 
Attorney Michael Easley, along with 
federal and local law enforcement, 
announced ongoing and coordinated 
efforts to address violent crime and 
drug trafficking in Fayetteville and 
surrounding areas.

This effort was conducted as part of 
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two strategic initiatives underway in 
the region:   the Violent Crime Ac-
tion Plan (VCAP) and the Organized 
Crime Drug Enforcement Task Force 
(OCDETF).

Over the last two months, 17 indi-
viduals were indicted by grand juries 
for federal charges and are currently 
in custody. As part of the initiative, 
16 guns, four auto sear machine 
gun switches, nearly 1500 rounds of 
ammunition, nearly a kilogram of 
cocaine, approximately an ounce of 
fentanyl, 100 MDMA/fentanyl pills, 
cash and two luxury SUVs have been 
seized.

Additionally, convictions have now 
been secured against all three North 
Carolina defendants in an international 
fentanyl trafficking ring that operated 
in multiple cities, including the city 
of Fayetteville. Earlier this month, a 
federal jury returned verdicts of guilty 
on both counts against Hector Perez 
Valenzuela, who was found with seven 
kilograms of pure fentanyl. In total, 
the fentanyl trafficking ring was held 
accountable for distributing more than 
40 kilograms of fentanyl around the 
country. 

“As we head into the summer months, 
when we typically see an uptick in vi-
olent crime, we want to send a strong 
and unified message that this commu-
nity stands against gun violence and 
drug traffickers,” said U.S. Attorney 
Michael Easley.  “We are working 
with law enforcement at every level to 
get dangerous, illegal guns and drugs 
off the streets and put the individuals 
most responsible for violence and nar-
cotics behind bars. We are using every 
tool available to keep our communities 
safe.”

VCAP is a collaboration of the U.S. 
Attorney’s Office with the Fayetteville 
Police Department (FPD), the Bureau 
of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Ex-
plosives (ATF), the Federal Bureau of 
Investigation (FBI), the Cumberland 
County Sheriff’s Office (CCSO), the 
Cumberland County District Attor-
ney’s Office, and the United States 
Marshals Service (USMS). A primary 
objective of the VCAP is to identify 
and systematically investigate and 

prosecute individuals contributing to 
crime in the city of Fayetteville and 
surrounding areas. Law enforcement 
partners use inter-agency coordination 
and intelligence-led policing, ana-
lyzing crime data to deploy resourc-
es where they are most needed and 
leveraging federal Task Force officers 
to bring federal technology to address 
local gun violence.

OCDETF investigations identify, 
disrupt, and dismantle the highest-lev-
el drug traffickers, money launderers, 
gangs, and transnational criminal 
organizations that threaten the United 
States by using a prosecutor-led, intel-
ligence-driven, multi-agency approach 
that leverages the strengths of federal, 
state, and local law enforcement agen-
cies against criminal networks.

“Fentanyl poisonings and other dan-
gerous drugs have taken a terrible toll 
on our communities.” said Robert J. 
Murphy, Special Agent in Charge of 
the Drug Enforcement Administration 
(DEA) Atlanta Division.  “Violent 
criminals and drug traffickers will face 
the consequences of their actions.”

“The Fayetteville Police Department 
remains committed to our partnership 
with Federal and State agencies to 
remove violent and career criminals 
from our community,” said Fayette-
ville Police Chief Kemberle Braden. 
“This partnership and the highlighted 
cases presented today support our 
goal of making Fayetteville a safe and 
secure community.”

“These indictments and seizures 
demonstrate the FBI’s relentless 
determination to eradicate the sales of 
illegal drugs. We are proud to work 
side by side with our law enforcement 
partners to hold these individuals 
accountable,” said Robert M. DeWitt, 
Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) 
Charlotte Special Agent in Charge.

“Drugs are affecting families and 
killing our loved ones,” said Cumber-
land County Sheriff Ennis W. Wright.  
“Law Enforcement and Criminal Jus-
tice Agencies nationwide are constant-
ly collaborating to find opportunities 
to improve safety in our communities. 
We hold everyone who endangers 
our communities with gun violence 

and poisons like Fentanyl, Cocaine, 
Meth, and Heroin responsible. While 
the drug dealers think they are safe, 
we are putting you on notice that your 
dealings are being watched, and rest 
assured that we are on the way to you 
and have a place for you to stay.”

“ATF and our law enforcement part-
ners support the Violent Crime Ac-
tion Plan because it focuses on those 
individuals who pose the biggest threat 
to our communities,” said Bureau 
of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and 
Explosives (ATF) Special Agent in 
Charge Bennie Mims. “We can have a 
major impact on the level of crime and 
violence in a community when we take 
firearms out of the hands of dangerous, 
prohibited individuals.”

“The Cumberland County District 
Attorney’s Office is proud to be a part 
of the Violent Crime Action Plan,” said 
Cumberland County District Attorney 
Billy West.  “We are committed to 
partnering with our local, state, and 
federal law enforcement to aggres-
sively prosecute violent crime.  These 
indictments are an example of working 
together with our partners to remove 
dangerous and illegal drugs and guns 
as well as violent offenders from our 
community.”

There are a wide range of charges 
on these subjects including felon 
in possession of a firearm, robbery, 
possession with intent to possess/dis-
tribute narcotics, as well as possessing 
firearms in furtherance of drug traffick-
ing crimes and crimes of violence.

The following individuals, all from 
Fayetteville and surrounding areas, 
face federal prosecution resulting from 
VCAP:

•	Norman Vincent Brown, age 33, 
felon in possession of a firearm

•	Malik Crawford, age 26, interfer-
ence with commerce by robbery 
and possession of firearm during a 
crime of violence

•	Joseph Monroe Griffin, age 33, 
felon in possession of a firearm

•	Ondrilleis Malloy, age 26, felon in 
possession of a firearm
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•	Demarco McLucas, age 22, felon 
in possession of a firearm

•	Tammy Michelle Mitchell, age 42, 
felon in possession of a firearm

•	Anthony Thomas, age 27, interfer-
ence with commerce by robbery 
and possession of firearm during a 
crime of violence

•	Samuel Thompson, age 20, pos-
session of a machinegun and felon 
in possession of a firearm

•	Zaire Whitten, age 26, felon in 
possession of a firearm

The following defendants were indict-
ed as part of an OCDETF investiga-
tion:

•	Eric David Black, age 30, conspir-
acy to distribute and possess with 
intent to distribute 40 grams or 
more of fentanyl; possession with 
intent to distribute fentanyl; pos-
session of a firearm in furtherance 
of a drug trafficking crime.

•	Robert James Colt, a/k/a “RJ,” age 
38, conspiracy to distribute and 
possess with intent to distribute 
fentanyl; possession with intent to 
distribute fentanyl; possession of 
a firearm in furtherance of a drug 
trafficking crime; possession of a 
firearm by a felon.

•	Jean Raymond Desire, a/k/a 
“Krim,” age 50, conspiracy to 
distribute 500 grams or more of a 
mixture containing methamphet-
amine; distribution of 50 grams 
or more of a mixture containing 
methamphetamine; and distribu-
tion of a quantity of cocaine and 
aiding and abetting.

•	Rashard Antwon Hardy, a/k/a 
“Gump,” age 42, conspiracy to 
distribute 50 grams or more of a 
mixture containing methamphet-
amine and distribution of 50 grams 
or more of a mixture of metham-
phetamine and abetting. 

•	Rick Derrell McIntyre, age 44, 
conspiracy to distribute and 
possess with intent to distribute 
50 grams or more of methamphet-

amine; distribution of 50 grams or 
more of methamphetamine.

•	Laron Marcell McIntyre, a/k/a 
“Rat,” age 48, conspiracy to 
distribute and possess with intent 
to distribute 50 grams or more of 
methamphetamine; distribution of 
50 grams or more of methamphet-
amine.

•	Natadja Denae Owen, age 26, con-
spiracy to distribute and possess 
with intent to distribute 50 grams 
or more of a mixture containing 
methamphetamine; distribution 
of 50 grams or more of a mixture 
containing methamphetamine and 
aiding and abetting; and distribu-
tion of a quantity of cocaine and 
aiding and abetting.

•	Kenneth Brandon Pomeroy, Jr., 
a/k/a “Spazz,” age 38, conspiracy 
to distribute and possess with in-
tent to distribute 40 grams or more 
of fentanyl; possession with intent 
to distribute fentanyl; possession 
of a firearm in furtherance of a 
drug trafficking crime.

The VCAP initiative is part of Project 
Safe Neighborhoods (PSN), which 
is the centerpiece of the Department 
of Justice’s violent crime reduction 
efforts. PSN is a program bringing 
together all levels of law enforcement 
and the communities they serve to 
reduce violent crime and make our 
neighborhoods safer for everyone. As 
part of this strategy, PSN focuses en-
forcement efforts on the most violent 
offenders and partners with locally 
based prevention and reentry programs 
for lasting reductions in crime.

Michael Easley, U.S. Attorney for the 
Eastern District of North Carolina 
made the announcement. The Fayette-
ville Police Department, the Cumber-
land County Sheriff’s Office, the Cum-
berland County District Attorney’s 
Office, the Bureau of Alcohol, Tobac-
co, Firearms and Explosives (ATF), 
the Federal Bureau of Investigation 
(FBI), the Drug Enforcement Admin-
istration (DEA), and the U.S. Marshals 
Service are involved in the investiga-
tions. Assistant U.S. Attorneys Caro-
line Webb and Chad Rhoades are the 

lead prosecutors for the cases, with 
assistance from other criminal Assis-
tant U.S. Attorneys in the office.

The DEA encourages parents, along 
with their children, to educate them-
selves about the dangers of legal and 
illegal drugs by visiting DEA’s interac-
tive websites at www.JustThinkTwice.
com, www.GetSmartAboutDrugs.com, 
www.CampusDrugPrevention.gov, and 
www.dea.gov. Also follow DEA Atlan-
ta via Twitter at @DEAATLANTADiv

https://www.dea.gov/press-releas-
es/2023/06/29/us-attorney-announc-
es-17-indictments-fayetteville-ar-
ea-part-ongoing

Drug Enforcement Administration 
Robert J. Murphy, Jr. 
Special Agent in Charge 
Atlanta 
@DEAAtlantaDiv 
June 12, 2023 
Contact: SA Crystal Harper 
Phone Number: (571) 362-3433 
For Immediate Release

DRUG DEALER WHO SOLD 
FENTANYL-LACED CRACK 
SENTENCED TO MORE THAN 
16 YEARS AFTER FOUR PEOPLE 
DIED IN A SINGLE DAY

ELIZABETH CITY, N.C. – A Beu-
laville man was sentenced today to 200 
months in prison for conspiracy and 
distribution of cocaine base (crack) 
and fentanyl. Four people died from 
overdoses after consuming drugs sold 
by Marshall Ray Scarborough on a 
single day in April 2021. Scarborough 
was also ordered to pay the funeral 
expenses for all the victims. On Febru-
ary 7, 2023, Scarborough, age 65, pled 
guilty to the charges.

“Drug dealers who lace fentanyl into 
their supply are killing Americans 
at record rates, and families across 
Eastern North Carolina are feeling the 
pain of burying their loved ones far 
too early,” said U.S. Attorney Michael 
Easley.  “Four of this fentanyl dealer’s 
customers had their lives snuffed out 
in a single day.  Dealers should know, 
the U.S. Attorney’s Office is partnering 
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local Sheriffs Offices to send fentanyl 
dealers to federal prison for the death 
and sorrow they sow.”  

“This is a great example of what 
happens when we work together, and 
I commend the men and women who 
worked relentlessly in conducting 
a thorough investigation,” said Du-
plin County Sheriff Stratton Stokes. 
“Today, Marshall Scarborough was 
sentenced to a lengthy prison sentence 
in federal court, which ensures that 
he will no longer spread poison in our 
community, or other communities.  I 
hope this brings some form of comfort 
and closure to the victims’ families. 
Let this be a notice to anyone active-
ly dealing narcotics or planning to 
deal narcotics in Duplin County.  Our 
Office will continue to work diligent-
ly with our local, state, and federal 
allies to rid our communities of these 
issues.”    

According to court documents and 
other information presented in court, 
deputies with the Duplin County 
Sheriff’s Office responded to three 
separate residences with unrespon-
sive individuals, and the Columbus 
County Sheriff’s Office responded to 
a fourth. Efforts to revive individuals 
were unsuccessful. In three of the four 
cases, autopsies were performed, and 
the cause of death was listed as acute 
fentanyl and cocaine intoxication. 
In the fourth case, no autopsy was 
performed, but a blood test revealed 
fentanyl, cocaine and diazepam. The 
investigation determined that Scarbor-
ough was the source of supply for the 
crack that all four victims had ingest-
ed.  

Michael Easley, U.S. Attorney for the 
Eastern District of North Carolina 
made the announcement after sentenc-
ing by U.S. District Judge Terrence 

W. Boyle. The Drug Enforcement 
Administration and the Duplin County 
Sheriff’s Office, the Wallace Police 
Department, and the Columbus County 
Sheriff’s Office investigated the case 
and Assistant U.S. Attorney Tyler 
Lemons prosecuted the case.

The DEA encourages parents, along 
with their children, to educate them-
selves about the dangers of legal and 
illegal drugs by visiting DEA’s interac-
tive websites at www.JustThinkTwice.
com, www.GetSmartAboutDrugs.com, 
www.CampusDrugPrevention.gov, 
and www.dea.gov . Also follow DEA 
Atlanta via Twitter at @DEAATLAN-
TADiv

https://www.dea.gov/press-releas-
es/2023/06/12/drug-dealer-who-sold-
fentanyl-laced-crack-sentenced-more-
16-years-after
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DEA's Community Outreach Section
DEA’s primary mission and responsibility 
as a law enforcement agency is to enforce 
the Nation’s federal drug laws.

DEA recognizes that not only reducing 
the quantity (supply) of drugs is essential 
to a safe and drug free country, but also 
reducing the desire (demand) for illicit 
drugs is a vital component to effectively 
reduce drug use in our Nation. For that 
reason, DEA created the Community 
Outreach Section as a critical comple-
ment to our primary law enforcement 
mission and included drug use prevention 
as one of the seven priorities in DEA’s 
vision:

“Support initiatives to reduce the demand 
for drugs and give assistance to com-
munity coalitions and drug prevention 
initiatives.”

DEA’s Community Outreach Section pro-
vides the public with current and relevant 
drug information about illicit drug use, 
the misuse of prescription drugs, drug use 
trends, and the health consequences of 
drug use.

The Community Outreach Section also 
develops drug information brochures, 
drug fact sheets, pamphlets, and parent/
teacher drug education guides to assist 
the community in identifying drug use 
and finding help.

Another major component of the Com-
munity Outreach Section is collabora-
tion with various drug use prevention 
partners. These partners include other 
federal agencies, national and regional 
prevention organizations, law enforce-
ment organizations, community coali-
tions, fraternal and civic organizations, 
youth-serving organizations, state and 
local governments, and school districts. 
DEA supports our partners, who present 
significant opportunities for involvement 
in prevention efforts by providing drug 
trend information at local community 
events as well as at national conferences 
and professional educational forums.  

DEA’s Community Outreach Strategy

DEA’s Community Outreach strategy is 
to develop and disseminate effective drug 
information for youth, parents, caregiv-

ers, and educators, and to increase the 
public’s awareness about the dangers as-
sociated with using drugs. There are three 
major concepts of drug use prevention 
research at the core of this strategy:

•	 Parents and teens alike need to know 
that the brain continues to develop 
to age 25. In particular, the frontal 
cortex, which carries out mental 
processes such as thinking, decision 
making, and judgment, is not fully 
developed until that age; therefore, 
it’s vitally important that youth and 
young adults refrain from drug use 
as this use will affect brain develop-
ment.

•	 When youth and young adults 
perceive that drug use is harmful and 
risky, drug use dramatically declines.

•	 The longer youth and young adults 
delay drug use, addiction and/or sub-
stance use disorders are significantly 
reduced.

Websites

DEA provides essential information 
about the harmful effects of illicit drug 
use through our educational materials and 
three websites.

Just Think Twice

DEA’s website for teens, www.justthink-
twice.gov, provides credible information 
about the harmful effects of drug use. The 
site includes information about various 
drugs, including facts and fiction about 
drugs, the consequences of drug use, as 
well as topics about addiction, impaired 
driving, and true stories about teens that 
have had drug problems.

The site provides descriptions of specific 
drugs, such as marijuana, Spice/K2, bath 
salts, and heroin, as well as the drugs’ 
street names, effect on the mind and 
body, overdose effects, legal status, and 
origin.

Get Smart About Drugs

DEA’s website for parents, www.
GetSmartAboutDrugs.gov, provides 
valuable drug education information 
for parents, educators, and caregivers 

to further help identify drug use, drug 
paraphernalia, warning signs of drug use, 
and the harmful side effects of the most 
commonly abused drugs.

The site features several downloadable 
publications including “Growing Up 
Drug-Free: A Parent’s Guide to Pre-
vention,” “Prescription for Disaster: 
How Teens Abuse Medicine,” and “The 
Dangers and Consequences of Marijuana 
Abuse.”

Campus Drug Prevention

www.campusdrugprevention.gov is 
DEA’s latest effort to support drug abuse 
prevention programs on college campuses 
and in surrounding communities. The 
website was created for professionals 
working to prevent drug abuse among 
college students, including educators, 
student health centers, and student affairs 
personnel. In addition, it serves as a use-
ful tool for college students, parents, and 
others involved in campus communities.

The website offers valuable informa-
tion, including data, news updates, drug 
scheduling and penalties, publications, 
research, national and statewide confer-
ences and events, state and local preven-
tion contacts, and resources available 
from DEA’s federal partners. The website 
also includes a “Help a Friend” resource 
to educate and prepare those who plan to 
talk to their friends or loved ones about 
drug use concerns.

Publications

For a list of all of DEA’s publications 
that can be downloaded, go to www.
getsmartaboutdrugs.gov and click on 
Publications.

For more information about DEA’s 
Community Outreach Section, or for 
more drug prevention resources, contact 
the Community Outreach Section at 202-
307-7936 or by e-mail at Community.
Outreach@usdoj.gov.

Community outreach. DEA. (n.d.). 
Retrieved April 7, 2023, from https://
www.dea.gov/education-prevention/
community-outreach 
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EVERY DAY, 3,000+ LAW ENFORCEMENT 
AGENCIES WORLDWIDE TRUST SPEER® GOLD DOT®

BUY NOW AT
SPEER.COM

GOLD DOT
GOLD STANDARD

PROTOCOL 
       PROVEN
THE WOUND BALLISTICS WORKSHOP ADVANTAGE

Speer® and Federal® pioneered the use of Wound Ballistic Workshops as a  
service to police departments nationwide. Utilizing the rigorous FBI Ammunition 
Testing Protocol, firearms training officers test ammunition side-by-side to  
make informed decisions on the duty ammunition their department will carry.

All testing is hands-on by the officers and allows them to document the entire 
process from start to finish. All necessary equipment is provided at no cost to  
the hosting agency - another sign of our brands’ continued commitment to the 
law enforcement community and the public it serves.

Testing is completed in 10 percent ordinance gelatin, and consists of shots in 
bare gelatin, gelatin covered in FBI specification heavy clothing, steel, wallboard, 
plywood, and the toughest challenge of all- laminated automobile safety glass.
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Deputy Sheriff Marcus Zeigler
Hamilton County Sheriff’s Office, OH
EOW: Friday, May 26, 2023
Cause: Duty related illness

Police Officer Horren Randy Tyler
Madison Police Department, MS
EOW: Thursday, June 1, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Corporal Shawn Kevin Kelly
Denham Springs Police Department, LA
EOW: Friday, June 2, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Sergeant Cory Maynard
West Virginia State Police, WV
EOW: Friday, June 2, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Chief of Police Anthony Rickerson
Jasper Police Department, FL
EOW: Sunday, June 11, 2023
Cause: Automobile crash

Captain Christopher J. Garrow
New York State Police, NY
EOW: Monday, June 12, 2023
Cause: 9/11 related illness

Police Officer Mark Christopher Wagner, II
Wintergreen Police Department, VA
EOW: Friday, June 16, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Trooper Jacques F. Rougeau, Jr.
Pennsylvania State Police, PA
EOW: Saturday, June 17, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Trooper Aaron N. Smith
Indiana State Police, IN
EOW: Wednesday, June 28, 2023
Cause: Vehicular assault

Police Officer Carlos Taylor
Montgomery Police Department, AL
EOW: Friday, June 30, 2023
Cause: Automobile crash

Sergeant Heather Glenn
Tell City Police Department, IN
EOW: Monday, July 3, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Detective Delberth Phipps, Jr.
Virgin Islands Police Department, VI
EOW: Tuesday, July 4, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Deputy Sheriff Tyee Michael Browne
Crisp County Sheriff’s Office, GA
EOW: Wednesday, July 5, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Police Officer Jessica Ebbighausen
Rutland Police Department, VT
EOW: Friday, July 7, 2023
Cause: Vehicular assault

Investigator Patrick J. Hogan
New York State Police, NY
EOW: Thursday, April 13, 2023
Cause: 9/11 related illness

Deputy Sheriff Josh Owen
Pope County Sheriff’s Office, MN
EOW: Saturday, April 15, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Reserve Corporal Joseph Johnson
Nyssa Police Department, OR
EOW: Saturday, April 15, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Senior Investigator Nicholas Georgeadis
New York State Police, NY
EOW: Friday, April 28, 2023
Cause: 9/11 related illness

Lieutenant Richard Weber
Newark Police Division, NJ
EOW: Monday, May 1, 2023
Cause: COVID19

Police Officer Aréanah M. Preston
Chicago Police Department, IL
EOW: Saturday, May 6, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Deputy Sheriff Kaitie Leising
St. Croix County Sheriff’s Office, WI
EOW: Saturday, May 6, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Police Officer Robert Shisler
Deptford Township Police Department, NJ
EOW: Sunday, May 7, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Detective Jacob Arthur Beu
Rutherford County Sheriff’s Office, TN
EOW: Sunday, May 7, 2023
Cause: Automobile crash

Port Police Officer Kimberly Sickafoose
Alabama Port Authority Police, AL
EOW: Thursday, May 11, 2023
Cause: Drowned

Sergeant Joshua Lee Clouse
Cameron Police Department, TX
EOW: Thursday, May 11, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Deputy Sheriff Brett Harris
Riverside County Sheriff’s Department, CA
EOW: Saturday, May 13, 2023
Cause: Automobile crash

Sergeant Michael Kunovich
St. Johns County Sheriff’s Office, FL
EOW: Friday, May 19, 2023
Cause: Heart attack

Deputy Sheriff Caleb Conley
Scott County Sheriff’s Office, KY
EOW: Monday, May 22, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Police Officer Andres M. Vasquez Lasso
Chicago Police Department, IL
EOW: Wednesday, March 1, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Deputy Sheriff Asson Hacker
Vanderburgh County Sheriff’s Office, IN
EOW: Thursday, March 2, 2023
Cause: Duty related illness

Master Trooper James R. Bailey
Indiana State Police, IN
EOW: Friday, March 3, 2023
Cause: Vehicular assault

Detective Sergeant Mason Griffith
Hermann Police Department, MO
EOW: Sunday, March 12, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Deputy Sheriff Jeremy McCain
Oklahoma County Sheriff’s Office, OK
EOW: Monday, March 20, 2023
Cause: Automobile crash

Patrolman Joseph Barlow
McAlester Police Department, OK
EOW: Monday, March 20, 2023
Cause: Automobile crash

Sergeant David Poirrier
Baton Rouge Police Department, LA
EOW: Sunday, March 26, 2023
Cause: Aircraft accident

Corporal Scotty Canezaro
Baton Rouge Police Department, LA
EOW: Sunday, March 26, 2023
Cause: Aircraft accident

Police Officer Garrett Crumby
Huntsville Police Department, AL
EOW: Tuesday, March 28, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Police Officer Timothy James Unwin, III
Springfield Township Police Department, OH
EOW: Friday, March 31, 2023
Cause: Automobile crash

Detective Sergeant Nicholas Pepper
Lafourche Parish Sheriff’s Office, LA
EOW: Sunday, April 2, 2023
Cause: Vehicular assault

Police Officer Emily Ann Breidenbach
Chetek Police Department, WI
EOW: Saturday, April 8, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Police Officer Hunter Timothy Scheel
Cameron Police Department, WI
EOW: Saturday, April 8, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Senior Police Officer Trevor Abney
New Orleans Police Department, LA
EOW: Sunday, April 9, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

XXXX MEMORIAL SECTION
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Deputy Sheriff Alejandro Martinez
Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department, CA
EOW: Friday, July 28, 2023
Cause: Vehicular assault

Sergeant William Cherry
Macon County Sheriff’s Office, TN
EOW: Saturday, July 29, 2023
Cause: Automobile crash

Deputy Marshal Barry Giglio
Ville Platte Marshal’s Office, LA
EOW: Monday, July 31, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Sergeant Pedro Torres-Santos
Trujillo Alto Municipal Police Department, PR
EOW: Monday, July 31, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Deputy Sheriff Timothy J. Guyer
Johnson County Sheriff’s Office, IN
EOW: Tuesday, August 1, 2023
Cause: Heart attack

Police Officer Matthew Hare
Easley Police Department, SC
EOW: Wednesday, August 2, 2023
Cause: Struck by train

Police Officer Jonah Oswald
Fairway Police Department, KS
EOW: Monday, August 7, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Deputy Sheriff John Durm
Marion County Sheriff’s Office, IN
EOW: Monday, July 10, 2023
Cause: Assault

Police Officer Jake Wallin
Fargo Police Department, ND
EOW: Friday, July 14, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Police Officer Anthony Ferguson
Alamogordo Police Department, NM
EOW: Sunday, July 16, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Sergeant Edwin Maldonado-García
Puerto Rico Police Department, PR
EOW: Wednesday, July 19, 2023
Cause: Struck by vehicle

Deputy Sheriff David Bosecker
Eastland County Sheriff’s Office, TX
EOW: Friday, July 21, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

Special Agent Robert C. Castioni, Jr.
United States Department of Homeland Security 
- Immigration and Customs Enforcement - 
Homeland Security Investigations, US
EOW: Monday, July 24, 2023
Cause: 9/11 related illness

Lieutenant Michael Wood
Newberry Police Department, SC
EOW: Wednesday, July 26, 2023
Cause: Automobile crash

Officer Bill Sapolu
Honolulu Police Department, HI
EOW: Tuesday, August 8, 2023
Cause: Motorcycle crash

Special Agent Patrick Bauer
United States Department of the Treasury 
- Internal Revenue Service - Criminal 
Investigation, US
EOW: Thursday, August 17, 2023
Cause: Gunfire (Inadvertent)

Officer Bryan Holley
Hudson Independent School District Police 
Department, TX
EOW: Friday, August 18, 2023
Cause: Duty related illness

Police Officer Anthony Francone
Pyramid Lake Paiute Tribal Police 
Department, TR
EOW: Friday, August 25, 2023
Cause: Vehicular assault

Sheriff Robert Daniel Rodgers
Wilcox County Sheriff’s Office, GA
EOW: Tuesday, August 29, 2023
Cause: Automobile crash

Deputy Sheriff Matthew Pierson
Shelby County Sheriff’s Office, TX
EOW: Tuesday, August 29, 2023
Cause: Automobile crash

K9 Kuno
Forest Heights Police Department, MD
EOW: Sunday, July 2, 2023
Cause: Heatstroke

K9 Falco
Gary Police Department, IN
EOW: Thursday, July 13, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

K9 Sir
San Diego Police Department, CA
EOW: Wednesday, August 2, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

K9 Chase
Cobb County Police Department, GA
EOW: Tuesday, June 6, 2023
Cause: Heatstroke

K9 Aron
Houston Police Department, TX
EOW: Monday, June 12, 2023
Cause: Heatstroke

K9 Harrie
Shreveport Police Department, LA
EOW: Saturday, June 24, 2023
Cause: Heatstroke

K9 Lenin
Baytown Police Department, TX
EOW: Thursday, March 9, 2023
Cause: Animal related

K9 Rudy
Riverside County Sheriff’s Department, CA
EOW: Friday, April 14, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

K9 Hudson
Kane County Sheriff’s Office, IL
EOW: Wednesday, May 24, 2023
Cause: Gunfire

K9 Santos
Wake County Sheriff’s Office, NC
EOW: Friday, May 26, 2023
Cause: Gunfire (Inadvertent)

XXXX K9 MEMORIAL
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Saint Michael, heaven’s glorious commissioner of police, who once so neatly and successfully 
cleared God’s premises of all its undesirables, look with kindly and professional eyes on your 

earthly force. 
 

Give us cool heads, stout hearts, and uncanny flair for investigation and wise judgment. 
 

Make us the terror of burglars, the friend of children and law-abiding citizens, kind to strangers, 
polite to bores, strict with law-breakers and impervious to temptations. 

 
You know, Saint Michael, from your own experiences with the devil, that the police officer’s lot on 

earth is not always a happy one; but your sense of duty that so pleased God, your hard knocks that 
so surprised the devil, and your angelic self-control give us inspiration. 

 
And when we lay down our night sticks, enroll us in your heavenly force, where we will be as 

proud to guard the throne of God as we have been to guard the city of all the people.

Amen.

A POLICEMAN’S
PRAYER
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Most Wanted Fugitives

Nemesio Oseguera- 
Cervantes

is wanted for the fol-
lowing alleged federal 

violations: 21 USC 84621 
USC 96321 USC 95921 
USC 84121 USC 924.

is wanted for the following 
alleged federal violations: 

The following alleged 
Federal Drug Violations: 1) 
18 USC Sec 1962 (d) RICO 
Conspiracy; 2) 21 USC 846 
and 841 (a)(1) Conspiracy 

to Possess Controlled 
Substance, over 5 kilograms 
of cocaine and over 1000 ki-
lograms of marijuana; 3) 21 
USC 963952(a) and 960(a)
(b)(1)(B) and (G); Conspi-

racy to import a controlled 
substance, over 5 kilograms 

of cocaineand over 1,000 
kilograms of marijuana;4)18 

USC 1956 Conspiracy to 
launder money instru-

ments; 5)18 USC 2 & 924(o) 
Conspiracy to possess 

firearms in furtherance of 
drug trafficking crimes and 

aid and abet; 6 thru 10) 
18 USC 2 & 1959(a)(1)&(5); 

Violent Crimes in aid of rac-
keteering activityand aiding 

and abetting; 11) 21 USC 
848 (e)(1)(A) Murder while 
engaging in or working in 

furtherance of a conti-
nuing criminal enterprise 
or drug trafficking; 12) 21 
USC 848(b)(1) and (2)(A) 

Engaging in a continuing 
criminal enterprise in furt-

herance of drug trafficking; 
13) 18 USC 956 Conspiracy 
to kill in a foreign country; 
and (14) 18 USC 2 & 1201 
Kidnaping and aiding and 

abetting.

Ismael Zambada 
Garcia

is wanted for the following 
alleged federal violations: 

Conspiracy to Possess with 
Intent to Distribute Controlled 
Substance; Attempt/Conspi-

racy-Controlled Substance-Im-
port/Export with Intent to 

Distribute.

Jesus Alfredo 
Guzman-Salazar

is wanted for the following 
alleged federal violations: 

Distribution.

Rommel Pascua 
Cipriano

is wanted for the following 
alleged federal violations: 

Cocaine importation; 
racketeering conspiracy; 

possession and conspiracy 
to possess machine guns.

Yulan Andony 
Archaga Carias

is wanted for the following 
alleged federal violations: 
Conspiracy to Distribute 
Heroin, 21 USC 846;Aid 
& Abet Distribution of 

Heroin, 841(a)(1) and 18 
USC 2;Aid & Abet Carrying 

of Firearm During Drug 
Trafficking, 18 USC 924(c)
(1);Use of Minors in Drug 
Trafficking, 21 USC 861(a)

(1).

Kenny Jing Ang 
Chen

is wanted for the following 
alleged federal violations: 21 
USC 846 Conspiracy to Pos-

sess with Intent to Distribute 
heroin, fentanyl, and cocaine.

Julio Alex Diaz

is wanted for the following 
alleged federal violations: 

Title 21 USC 846.

Chuen Yip




